09368-9

09368-9

NO. 69368-9-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

RYAN PEELER,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE  
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SKAGIT COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

FILED  
COURT OF APPEALS DIV I  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
2013 MAY -2 PM 4:57

NANCY P. COLLINS  
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT  
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701  
Seattle, WA 98101  
(206) 587-2711

A. INTRODUCTION.

At Ryan Peeler's trial for second degree assault, it was undisputed that he hit Donald Macomb one time. Even though Mr. Peeler testified that he did not expect Mr. Macomb would suffer serious injuries from a single slap, the court refused his request for a jury instruction on the lesser included offense of fourth degree assault.

Mr. Peeler was not arraigned on the assault charge for over one year, despite his written requests that he be tried pursuant to the intrastate detainer requirements of RCW 9.98.010. The State was aware Mr. Peeler was in the state's custody throughout this period. The court denied Mr. Peeler's motion to dismiss the case even though the State failed to meet its obligation once an in-custody defendant files a written request to be tried.

Finally, the court imposed an exceptional sentence based on the aggravating factor that the injuries substantially exceeded the level of harm necessary to prove second degree assault. This aggravating factor is unduly vague and does not provide the jury with adequate notice of the objective criteria required to authorize an exceptional sentence.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1. The court's refusal to provide the jury with an instruction on the inferior degree offense of fourth degree assault in a prosecution for second degree assault violated Mr. Peeler's rights to due process of law and a fair trial by jury.

2. The prosecution's failure to comply with the requirements of the intrastate detainer statute set forth in RCW 9.98.010 requires dismissal of the charge.

3. The court misconstrued the time for trial requirements of RCW 9.98.010.

4. The aggravating factor of an injury substantially exceeding the level required for an assault under RCW 9.94A.535(2)(y) is unduly vague and violates the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments as well as the statutory dictates of RCW 9.94A.530 (3).

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1. A person charged with a crime has the right to be convicted on the least serious offense proved by the State and therefore he is entitled to have the court instruct the jury on a lesser included offense if, by taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the accused, a jury could find he committed only an inferior degree offense. Mr.



Peeler's testimony showed that he slapped the accuser once but did not reasonably anticipate any serious harm, which would make him guilty of fourth degree assault. Did the court improperly deny Mr. Peeler's request to instruct the jury on the inferior offense of fourth degree assault?

2. RCW 9.98.010 requires the State to bring charges to trial within 120 days after it receives a written request from an accused person who is being held in a penal or correctional facility inside this state. Mr. Peeler filed a written request for his pending charge to be prosecuted while he was held in this state's custody but the prosecution did not bring him to trial within 120 days of that request. Did the State fail to meet its obligations under RCW 9.98.010?

3. Sentencing enhancements based on factual allegations must comport with the requirements of due process as well as the right to a jury trial. Because aggravating factors trigger the protection of the Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process Clause, those factors are subject to challenge under the vagueness doctrine of the Due Process clause. Mr. Peeler received an exceptional sentence based on the aggravating factor in RCW 9.94A.535(3)(y) that injuries inflicted substantially exceed that necessary to satisfy the elements of the offense, but this

aggravating factor is inherently subjective and contrary to the statutory requirements of RCW 9.94A.530, which prohibit an exceptional sentence based on facts that would be elements of a more serious crime. Without a narrowing instruction setting objective criteria for juries to uniformly apply, was Mr. Peeler's exceptional sentence based on an impermissibly vague aggravating factor?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Ryan Peeler<sup>1</sup> rented a room from the managers of the Whispering Firs Motel, paying cash for a two-night stay. 8/27/12RP 18, 20. After Mr. Peeler paid for a third night, the motel managers Michelle and Donald Macomb received a complaint about cigarette smoke. Id. at 26. They assumed Mr. Peeler or one of his guests was responsible and told him he could not stay at the motel any longer, refunding his money for the extra night. Id. at 26, 71.

Because motel policy required Mr. Peeler to pay a cash security deposit for the room, the Macombs insisted on inspecting the room before refunding the security deposit. 8/27/12RP 27. The room did not smell of cigarette smoke and, as Mr. Peeler had explained, no one was

smoking in the room. Id. at 72; 8/29/12RP 41. Mr. Macomb returned the security deposit to Mr. Peeler. 8/29/12RP 46-47.

After the Macombs conceded no one was smoking in Mr. Peeler's room, Mrs. Macomb believed she heard Mr. Peeler say to Mr. Macomb that he "almost got hit." 8/27/12RP 37. Mrs. Macomb described Mr. Peeler then reaching out and hitting Mr. Macomb one time in the face. Id. Mr. Macomb "spun around, hit the corner of a table, and landed on the ground." Id. at 38. His injuries included a fractured left jawbone, left cheekbone, and left eye socket. 8/29/12RP 24. Dr. Kristen Moe explained that the injured facial bones are continuous, so the fracture spread from one bone to the other connected bones, and required an operation with plates and screws to repair the injured bones. 8/29/12RP 24-25, 28.

Mr. Peeler was charged with second degree assault. CP 6. He testified at his jury trial, explaining that he slapped Mr. Macomb in the ear, after Mr. Macomb had grabbed his arm and knocked him off balance. 8/29/12RP 50-51. He hit Mr. Macomb one time and immediately drove away. Id. at 57.

---

<sup>1</sup> Mr. Peeler rented the room using identification belonging to Bryce Williams, but agreed at trial that he was the person involved. 8/27/12RP 19;

Although the incident happened on January 14, 2011, and the prosecution filed its charging document ten days later, Mr. Peeler was not arraigned until February 16, 2012, after Mr. Peeler made several written requests to be brought to trial. CP 1, 6, 27. The prosecution knew Mr. Peeler was in the Snohomish County jail when it filed its charge on January 24, 2011. CP 4, 23. He remained at the Snohomish County jail until September 20, 2011, when he was sent to the Department of Corrections (DOC) to serve a prison sentence. CP 33, 36. Mr. Peeler filed written requests to be prosecuted in the Skagit County case in October 7, 2011 and January 20, 2012. CP 18-22. The State did not bring Mr. Peeler to Skagit County until after his second written request for a trial. CP 14, 27. The court denied Mr. Peeler's motion to dismiss the charge due to the State's violation of the intrastate detention statute, RCW 9.98.010. 8/22/12RP 32-34.

At Mr. Peeler's trial for second degree assault, the court denied Mr. Peeler's request that the jury be instructed on the lesser included offense of fourth degree assault. 8/29/12RP 65-66. He was convicted of the charged crime as well as the aggravating factor that the injuries substantially exceeded the level of harm necessary to prove second

---

8/29/12RP 37.

degree assault. CP 111, 112. Based on this aggravating factor, the court imposed an exceptional sentence of 100 months consecutive to the sentences Mr. Peeler is also serving for Snohomish and King County convictions. CP 271-72; 9/28/12RP 52, 59.

Pertinent facts are explained in further detail in the relevant argument sections below.

E. ARGUMENT.

1. **Where the defendant testified he slapped the complainant one time, the court's refusal to instruct the jury on the lesser offense of fourth degree assault denied him a fair trial by jury.**

- a. An accused person is entitled to a lesser included offense instruction based on viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the accused.

A person accused of a crime is “entitled” to an instruction on a lesser degree offense when two conditions are met: (1) legally the lesser offense is a necessary element of the offense charged, and (2) factually the evidence supports an inference that only the lesser crime was committed. State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978); RCW 10.61.003; U.S. Const. amend. 14; Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22. The constitutional right to a lesser included offense instruction stems from the “risk that a defendant might otherwise be convicted of a

crime more serious than that which the jury believes he committed simply because the jury wishes to avoid setting him free.” Vujosevic v. Rafferty, 844 F.2d 1023, 1027 (3<sup>rd</sup> Cir. 1988). “When the evidence supports an inference that the lesser included offense was committed, the defendant has a right to have the jury consider that lesser included offense.” State v. Warden, 133 Wn.2d 559, 564, 947 P.2d 708 (1997).

An inferior degree of assault necessarily meets the “legal prong” of the Workman test since all of the elements of the first are also elements of the latter. State v. Foster, 91 Wn.2d 466, 471-72, 589 P.2d 789 (1979) (“assault statutes proscribe but one offense that of assault”); RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a) (defining second degree assault as “under circumstances not amounting to assault in the first degree [a person] [i]ntentionally assaults another and thereby recklessly inflicts substantial bodily harm”); RCW 9A.36.041(1) (“A person is guilty of assault in the fourth degree if, under circumstances not amounting to assault in the first, second, or third degree, or custodial assault, he or she assaults another.”).

To satisfy the factual portion of the Workman test, the evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the party requesting the instruction. State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 455-56, 6 P.3d

1150 (2000). A requested jury instruction on a lesser included or inferior degree offense should be given “[i]f the evidence would permit a jury to rationally find a defendant guilty of the lesser offense and acquit him of the greater.” Warden, 133 Wn.2d at 563 (citing Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625, 635, 100 S.Ct. 2382, 65 L.Ed.2d 392 (1980)).

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Mr. Peeler, he was entitled to a jury instruction on fourth degree assault.

- b. Mr. Peeler’s testimony, viewed in the light most favorable to the defense, affirmatively established a fourth degree assault.

The allegation of second degree assault against Mr. Peeler required the prosecution to prove he intentionally assaulted Mr. Macomb and thereby recklessly inflicted substantial bodily harm. CP 6. Fourth degree assault is simply an intentional assault, defined as an intentional touching that is harmful or offensive. CP 98; RCW 9A.36.041(1). Mr. Peeler asked the court to instruct the jury on fourth degree assault as an inferior degree offense. CP 76; 8/29/12RP 65.

Criminal culpability rests on a “hierarchy of mental states” defined by statute. State v. Allen, 101 Wn.2d 355, 359, 678 P.2d 798 (1984); RCW 9A.08.010. Criminal recklessness is defined as knowingly disregarding “a substantial risk that a wrongful act would”

occur and such disregard is a “gross deviation from conduct that a reasonable person would exercise in the same situation.” RCW 9A.08.010 (1)(c). The criminal recklessness required to commit second degree assault is a higher level mental state than criminal negligence. See Allen, 101 Wn.2d at 359. A person is criminally negligent “when he or she fails to be aware of a substantial risk that a wrongful act may occur” and this “failure to be aware of such substantial risk constitutes a gross deviation from the standard of care that a reasonable person would exercise in the same situation.” RCW 9A.08.010 (1)(d).<sup>2</sup>

Fourth degree assault requires the intent to assault, without regard to the perpetrator’s mental state as to the degree of injury. RCW 9A.36.041(1).

There was affirmative evidence before the court, taken in the light most favorable to Mr. Peeler, that he had no expectation Mr. Macomb would be injured by slapping him, or that he “fail[ed] to be aware of a substantial risk” that Mr. Macomb could suffer serious

---

<sup>2</sup> Third degree assault includes when a person assaults another and “with criminal negligence, causes bodily harm accompanied by substantial pain that extends for a period sufficient to cause considerable suffering. RCW 9A.36.031(1)(f).



injuries, rather than knowingly disregarding the risk of such harm as required to commit second degree assault.

Mr. Peeler hit Mr. Macomb a single time. 8/27/12RP 37; 8/28/12RP 13; 8/29/12RP 50. He had no weapon and there was no further contact between Mr. Macomb and Mr. Peeler. 8/29/12RP 50.

Mr. Peeler said he slapped Mr. Macomb by his ear. 8/29/12RP 56. A reasonable person would not expect Mr. Macomb to fall down and suffer serious injury by a single slap to the side of the head. Mr. Peeler explained Mr. Macomb had pulled on his sleeve, which put him off balance, and that is when he slapped Mr. Macomb. 8/29/12RP 56. “I was trying to get him off me and I was scared,” Mr. Peeler said. Id. There was no evidence that the hit alone caused the injury, as Mr. Macomb let go of Mr. Peeler’s arm and fell, hitting a table. Id. Taking the evidence in Mr. Peeler’s favor, a rational juror could find that Mr. Macomb unexpectedly suffered substantial bodily harm due to the unanticipated nature of Mr. Macomb’s fall to the ground, rather than Mr. Peeler’s knowing disregard of the substantial risk that such harm would occur.

The court refused Mr. Peeler’s request for an inferior degree instruction of fourth degree assault. 8/29/12RP 65-66. The court

reasoned that Mr. Peeler should have foreseen Mr. Macomb could fall backwards and in the court's view, this possibility eliminated the factual basis for fourth degree assault. Id. The court did not view the evidence in the light most favorable to Mr. Peeler in reaching this conclusion and did not consider the difference between knowingly and recklessly disregarding a risk of harm as opposed to failing to be aware of the risk of harm.

If the court had viewed the evidence in the light most favorable to Mr. Peeler, it would have concluded that by slapping Mr. Macomb, a juror could rationally find that Mr. Peeler did not act with criminal recklessness, i.e., he did not knowingly disregard a substantial risk that Mr. Macomb would suffer substantial bodily injury. Mr. Peeler never foresaw any substantial risk any serious injury would result from his slap. 8/29/12RP 50-51, 56. He may have been negligent or mean-spirited but the evidence did not establish that he was necessarily criminally reckless.

- c. The failure to instruct the jury on the lesser offense of fourth degree assault denied Mr. Peeler his right to present his theory of defense.

The refusal to give an instruction that prevents the defendant from presenting his theory that he did not recklessly injure the

complainant is reversible error. Warden, 133 Wn.2d at 564. The right to present a defense, and to have the jury instructed on a valid theory of defense, is guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment and the more protective right to a trial by jury under article I, sections 21 and 22.

The court's refusal to instruct the jury on the lesser offense of fourth degree assault precluded Mr. Peeler from presenting the jury with a viable option of finding him culpable for the assault that he admitted in his testimony, but also finding that he did not appreciate he could seriously injure Mr. Macomb by hitting him a single time. Mr. Peeler did not push, throw or otherwise attempt to force Mr. Macomb to the ground, and had he not fallen and hit the table, Mr. Peeler's slap alone would not have caused the injuries that resulted. Mr. Peeler was improperly denied his ability to fully and effectively argue his theory of defense due to the court's denial of his request for a lesser included offense instruction, which requires reversal of his conviction. Warden, 133 Wn.2d at 564.

**2. The prosecution’s failure to bring Mr. Peeler to trial while he served other sentences, despite his request, violated his right to a timely trial under RCW 9.98.010.**

- a. The State must bring a person to court for trial upon his written request when he is incarcerated within the same state.

When an accused person is held in the custody of a penal institution within the state of Washington and he faces untried charges in this state, he may request that the State bring him to trial. RCW 9.98.010 sets forth the mechanism for an accused person to request the State proceed with its prosecution. When the state fails to comply with RCW 9.98.010, it loses its authority to prosecute the case and the court must dismiss the case with prejudice. RCW 9.98.020. If the case is not brought to trial within 120 days,

no court of this state shall any longer have jurisdiction thereof, nor shall the untried indictment, information or complaint be of any further force or effect, and the court shall enter an order dismissing the same with prejudice.

State v. Morris, 126 Wn.2d 306, 310-11, 892 P.2d 734 (1995) (quoting RCW 9.98.020).

Under RCW 9.98.010, the 120-day deadline for trial proceedings commences when an accused person who is being held “in a penal or correctional institution of this state” asks the facility holding

him to request the State commence an outstanding prosecution. RCW

9.98.010(1) provides:

Whenever a person has entered upon a term of imprisonment in a penal or correctional institution of this state, and whenever during the continuance of the term of imprisonment there is pending in this state any untried indictment, information, or complaint against the prisoner, he or she shall be brought to trial within one hundred twenty days after he or she shall have caused to be delivered to the prosecuting attorney and the superior court of the county in which the indictment, information, or complaint is pending written notice of the place of his or her imprisonment and his or her request for a final disposition to be made of the indictment, information, or complaint

An imprisoned person triggers the State's obligation to commence a prosecution against him by giving written notice to the superintendent of the facility holding him. RCW 9.98.010(1). Upon receiving such a request, the facility must "promptly forward" the written notice "to the appropriate prosecuting attorney and superior court by certified mail, return receipt requested." RCW 9.98.010(2). Mr. Peeler filed a written demand that the Skagit County charge against him be prosecuted, but the State improperly delayed its prosecution.

- b. The State did not bring Mr. Peeler to trial within 120 days of his request as required by RCW 9.98.010.

From the inception of the charges filed against Mr. Peeler on January 28, 2011, the Skagit County prosecution knew he was in the custody of its neighboring county, Snohomish, awaiting trial on other charges. CP 4, 23. It made no efforts to bring Mr. Peeler to Skagit County while he was held in Snohomish County. CP 23. There is no evidence that the State even informed Mr. Peeler of the Skagit County charge against him.

Mr. Peeler was sentenced in his Snohomish County case on September 11, 2011, and was transferred to DOC custody on September 20, 2011. CP 33, 36. On October 7, 2011, he filed a formal request for the State to prosecute the untried information in the Skagit County case. CP 18. DOC sent Mr. Peeler's written request to be tried along with the required certification of inmate status to Skagit County, which it received on October 26, 2011. CP 18. In response, the prosecution asked DOC to transport Mr. Peeler to Skagit County, but in the interim, DOC had transferred Mr. Peeler to King County on another matter. CP 39, 44. DOC informed the Skagit County prosecution that Mr. Peeler of this transfer and the prosecution took no further steps until Mr. Peeler

renewed his request that Skagit County initiate its prosecution on January 20, 2012. CP 21, 44.<sup>3</sup> After Mr. Peeler's second request, he was brought to Skagit County and arraigned on this charge. CP 23-24.

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