09368-9

09368-9
SUPERIOR COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
MOUNT VERNON, WA
APR 22 2016

NO. 69368-9-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS – STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON
Respondent,

v.

RYAN J. PEELER,
Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON, FOR SKAGIT COUNTY

The Honorable Susan K. Cook, Judge

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

SKAGIT COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY
RICHARD A. WEYRICH, PROSECUTOR

By: ERIK PEDERSEN, WSBA#20015
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Office Identification #91059

Courthouse Annex
605 South Third
Mount Vernon, WA 98273
Ph: (360) 336-9460

ORIGINAL

I. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Ryan Peeler appeals from his jury trial conviction for Assault in the Second Degree. Peeler struck a motel manager in the face after a dispute about charges. The manager suffered a broken jaw, a fractured eye socket and extended effects of the injuries. Peeler claimed self-defense.

Peeler contends the trial court erred in failing to provide an instruction for the lesser charge of Assault in the Fourth Degree. However, under the facts of the case, Peeler admitted to intentionally striking the victim and his resulting injuries were undisputed.

Peeler also argues the trial court erred in finding his demand for disposition on an untried indictment prepared while in prison but received while he was in another county's jail on pretrial charges was not effective. Since the defendant was not serving a term of imprisonment, when he was in the other county jail, the trial court's ruling was correct.

Finally Peeler contends the exceptional sentence based upon the aggravating factor of an injury which substantially exceeded the level of bodily harm necessary to satisfy the elements of the offense was unconstitutionally vague. However, the Washington Supreme Court in State v. Duncalf, held the factor was not unconstitutionally vague as to a charge of Assault in the Second Degree.

II. ISSUES

1. Where a defendant admitted to striking the defendant and significant injuries resulted, but claimed he acted in self-defense, is he entitled to a lesser degree charge of Assault in the Fourth Degree?
2. Where a defendant is no longer just serving a term of imprisonment, is a notice for disposition on an untried indictment effective?
3. Where a defendant is incarcerated on pretrial charges in another county after having filed a notice for disposition on an untried indictment, is the defendant still considered in the facility where he prepared the notice?
4. Where the victim's injuries far injury necessary to satisfy the elements of Assault in the Second, is the exceptional sentence unconstitutionally vague?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Statement of Procedural History

On January 28, 2011, Ryan Peeler was charged with Assault in the Second Degree by intentional assault recklessly inflicting substantial harm alleged to have occurred on January 14, 2013. CP 1. Peeler was alleged to have used a false name when renting a room at a motel and after a dispute over the room charges, struck the owner in the face knocking him

unconscious and caused significant facial fractures. CP 3-4. Officers determined that shortly afterwards that Peeler had been arrested and was in custody in Snohomish County on charges from King and Snohomish County. CP 5.

On October 26, 2011, Peeler filed a Notice of Place of Imprisonment and Request for Final Disposition of Untried Indictment, Information or Complaint (RCW 9.98.010). CP ____ (Sub No. 12, filed 10/7/2011, Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers Pending). The notice indicated that he was being held on a Snohomish County case and would be eligible for parole on July 18, 2012.

On October 27, 2011, the State prepared an order for transport for a hearing in Superior Court for November 17, 2011. (Sub No. 13, filed 10/27/2011, Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers Pending).

On January 30, 2012, Peeler filed a Notice of Place of Imprisonment and Request for Final Disposition of Untried Indictment, Information or Complaint (RCW 9.98.010). CP ____ (Sub No. 14, filed 1/30/2012, Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers Pending). The notice indicated that he was now being held on both a Snohomish County case and three King County cases and would be eligible for parole on March 6, 2013.

On February 2, 2012, the State prepared an order for transport for a hearing in Superior Court for February 16, 2011. CP __, __ (Sub No.s 15, 16, filed 2/2/2012, Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers Pending).

On February 16, 2012, Peeler was arraigned and a trial date was set. CP __ (Sub No. 20, filed 2/16/2012, Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers Pending). Based upon arraignment, time for trial was calculated as April 16, 2012.

On May 3, 2012, the State amended the information to provide notice of the State's intent to seek an exceptional sentence under RCW 9.94A.535(2)(y) based upon the victim's injuries substantially exceeding the level of bodily harm necessary to satisfy the elements of the offense. CP 7.

On August 17, 2012, Peeler filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to RCW 9.98.010 and RCW 9.98.020, alleging he was not brought to trial within 120 days of his request for disposition of the untried indictment.

On August 22, 2012, the State filed a response to the motion to dismiss. CP 25-65.

On August 22, 2012, the trial court heard a motion to dismiss based upon a violation of RCW 9.98.0110 for failing to bring Peeler to trial within 120 days after a demand for extradition was filed. 8/22/12 RP 23¹. Peeler

¹ The State will refer to the verbatim report of proceedings by using the date followed by "RP" and the page number. The report of proceedings in this case are as follows:

filed a demand for extradition with the clerk's office on October 26, 2011, although he had already been transported to another county by the time the notice was filed. 8/22/12 RP 24. Peeler contended that even though he was not available in prison and was in another county's jail, that the 120 day period ran on February 23, 2012. 8/22/12 RP 26. The trial court denied the motion finding that Peeler was not available for transport to Skagit County, and that Skagit County acted with diligence in bringing Peeler to trial. 8/22/12 RP 32-3.

On August 27, 2012, the case proceeded to trial. 8/27/12 RP 6. Testimony was take over three days.

On August 29, 2012, the jury returned a guilty verdict on the charge of Assault in the Second Degree and also found the aggravating factor supporting the exceptional sentence. CP 111, 112.

On August 29, 2012, the trial court entered written findings on the motion to dismiss. CP 84-7. The trial court found that Peeler was transported from prison to King County on his charges on October 18, 2011, and pled guilty on December 23, 2011. CP 84-5. The trial court found

7/18/12 RP	Motion Hearing – Continuance of conflict issue
7/25/12 RP	Motion Hearing – Conflict issue and trial continuance
8/22/12 RP	Motion Hearing – Dismissal under RCW 9.98.010
8/27/12 RP	Trial Day 1 – Testimony
8/28/12 RP	Trial Day 2 – Testimony
8/29/12 RP	Trial Day 3 -Testimony, Jury Instructions, Closing and Verdict
9/28/12 RP	Sentencing – (in volume with 7/17, 7/25, 8/22).

Peeler was returned to prison where he made another demand for extradition and that the demand was received by the prosecutor's office on January 30, 2012. CP 85. The trial court also found that 120 days after that date was May 30, 2012, and that trial continuances were done by agreement or defense request. CP 85-6. The trial court concluded that for RCW 9.98.010 to apply a defendant must be imprisoned and available for transport and that Peeler was not available for transport in October of 2011. CP 86. The trial court found Peeler available for transport in January of 2012, and arraigned timely on February 16, 2012. CP 86. Finally, the trial court concluded that any continuance beyond May 16, 2012, waived Peeler's claim of violation under RCW 9.98.010. CP 86.

On September 28, 2012, Peeler was sentenced to 100 months in prison. CP 272, 9/28/12 RP 52. Peeler had twelve prior felony convictions which scored. CP 270, 9/28/12 RP 37. The sentence was outside the standard range of 63 to 84 months based upon the jury's determination of the aggravating factor. CP 271, 279. The trial court also exercised its discretion and ordered that Peeler's sentence run consecutive to his other sentences under RCW 9.94A.589 and found the jury's determination of the aggravating factor was appropriate and merited additional punishment. 9/28/12 RP 50-2.

On September 28, 2012, Peeler timely filed a notice of appeal. CP 281-2, 9/28/12 RP 57.

2. Summary of Trial Proceedings

i. Testimony

Michelle Macomb and her husband Donald were the managers of the Whispering Firs Motel in Skagit County where they live. 8/27/12 RP 15-6. They worked for a corporation that owns the motel coordinated by co-owner Karen Neufeld. 8/27/12 RP 17, 8/28/12 RP 5-6.

On January 13, 2011, the defendant Ryan Peeler rented a room from them. 8/27/12 RP 17-8, 53-4. The registration was made under the name of Bryce Williams and they retained a copy of that identification. 8/27/12 RP 19. Peeler paid by cash at \$65 per night for two nights based on the \$60 base rate plus \$5 for the double occupancy and a \$50 deposit since he paid in cash. 8/27/12 RP 18-9, 21. The receipt showing the charges was admitted. 8/27/12 RP 21-2.

Over the next day and a half, Ms. Macomb saw little activity in the day time, but a lot of activity at night with cars coming and going and unloading of a lot of bags and totes into the room. 8/27/12 RP 22, 58. After first arriving in a Honda, Peeler and the woman later were driving a Tahoe and a Taurus station wagon. 8/27/12 RP 23. Because of the suspicious activity with the vehicles, they took pictures. 8/27/12 RP 24-5.

On the morning of the 14th, the people in the adjoining room complained of cigarette smoke through linked bathroom ventilation. 8/27/12 RP 23, 58. Peeler was upset that he was being accused of smoking and being a liar. 8/27/12 RP 26, 61. As a result of the smoking issue, they refunded the money paid for the additional night and Peeler started loading up the vehicle. 8/27/12 RP 26. Mr. Macomb first checked the room and then got her and Neufeld to check the room. 8/27/12 RP 27. All belongings had been moved out. 8/27/12 RP 64. Ms. Macomb described what had occurred describing the activity documented by the motel video surveillance system. 8/27/12 RP 27-33.

Once they were all four at the room, Mr. Macomb was at the back of the room with Neufeld, her husband was near the front of the room and Peeler was near the doorway. 8/27/12 RP 34. After they inspected the room, they decided to give back the money. 8/27/12 RP 37. Mr. Macomb was near the table in the room and gave Peeler back the money. 8/27/12 RP 37. Ms. Mcomb was bending down to count linens and the defendant made a comment. 8/27/12 RP 37. Peeler was complaining about being overcharged for the room at \$65 instead of \$50 or \$55. 8/27/12 RP 38.

At the point when Peeler made the comment about her husband being lucky he didn't get hit, she stood up, turned around and saw her husband get hit in the side of the face. 8/27/12 RP 37-8, 61-2. Ms. Macomb

did not see her husband do anything that would have warranted the response. 8/27/12 RP 38.

After Peeler struck Mr. Macomb, he laughed, left the room and stood by his car looking at Ms. Macomb. 8/27/12 RP 39. Ms. Macomb threw a full cup of coffee at Peeler, yelled at him and yelled for somebody to call the police. 8/27/12 RP 39. Neufeld ran to the office to call police, while Ms. Macomb went to her husband. 8/27/12 RP 40. Mr. Macomb was starting come to and walked around a little bit. 8/27/12 RP 40. She got him to sit on the bed. 8/27/12 RP 40. There was blood coming out of his mouth and he had no clue what happened. 8/27/12 RP 40.

After aid and law enforcement arrived, Mr. Macomb was taken to the hospital. 8/27/12 RP 41. After it was determined he had broken his jaw and multiple bones in his face, it was recommended that they contact a surgeon at Harborview. 8/27/12 RP 42. They went to Harborview a couple days later and he was then scheduled for surgery the next day. 8/27/12 RP 42-3.

As a result of the surgery, Mr. Macomb's jaw was wired shut and he had to eat blended soups and milk shakes. 8/27/12 RP 43. The Macombs took multiple pictures showing the progression of the injuries which were admitted. 8/27/12 RP 44-51.

Mr. Macomb complained of headaches and vision problems after the incident. 8/27/12 RP 52. Ms. Macomb also described that his personality

was different because he lacked patience, could not process some things and did not remember things that he used to know. 8/27/12 RP 52. His trade is telecommunications and computer work and he could not do the work that he did before. 8/27/12 RP 52-3.

Donald Macomb lived on site with his wife Michelle as the managers as the Whispering Firs Motel. 8/27/12 RP 65-6. Mr. Macomb rented a room to a person using the identification of Bryce Williams at about 2:00 a.m. on Wednesday morning, July 13, 2011. 8/27/12 RP 66-7. The person was actually the defendant, Ryan Peeler. 8/27/12 RP 66, 80, 88. Peeler was with a female and they were charged \$65 per night for the double occupancy. 8/27/12 RP 68. They paid in cash so they were also charged a \$50 deposit. 8/27/12 RP 68. They arrived in a little Honda. 8/27/12 RP 68. The next day, Mr. Macomb noticed there were two other cars in the parking lot and a lot of activity with garbage bags full of stuff and big plastic crates being taken in and out of the room. 8/27/12 RP 70. The people in the adjoining room also complained of smelling smoke. 8/27/12 RP 70.

Mr. Macomb decided not to let them stay any longer and refused to extend Peeler for a third night because there had been smoking in the room. 8/27/12 RP 70-1. Peeler had already paid the managing owner for the third night at that point, so he was returned his money for that night. 8/27/12 RP 71. They were still holding the deposit and they wanted to make sure there

was no damage and that nothing was missing. 8/27/12 RP 71. After Peeler had removed everything from the room, Mr. Macomb went to the room to check the room and see if he smelled smoke. 8/27/12 RP 72. He didn't so he went back to the office to tell his wife and Karen Neufeld and have them check the room. 8/27/12 RP 72. They went to the room and didn't smell anything, so Mr. Macomb went to get \$50 to provide to Peeler. 8/27/12 RP 72-3.

Mr. Macomb returned the money to Peeler in the room. 8/27/12 RP 74. At that point, Peeler commented to Mr. Macomb while laughing, stating, you're lucky I didn't hit you. 8/27/12 RP 74. Mr. Macomb described the conversation.

I chuckled, and I was like, for what? And he said, you told me it was 55 for the room. So I just said, no, sorry, we've never had a room at 55. Our rooms start at 60.

8/27/12 RP 74. Mr. Macomb recalled reaching to open the curtain and the next thing after that was he was sitting on the end of the bed. 8/27/12 RP 75. He had no recollection of being struck. 8/27/12 RP 75.

Mr. Macomb described that from that point on, his memory contained bits and pieces of the ambulance ride to the hospital, the hospital visit, a ride home and a trip to Harborview. 8/27/12 RP 75-7. Mr. Macomb's jaw was wired shut for about four to six weeks and his eye socket was rebuilt. 8/27/12 RP 77-8. After the injury, he remained on the couch

and had to drink blended food with a straw. 8/27/12 RP 78. The side of his face remained numb at the time of trial and he continued to have headaches and a blur in his eye about once a week. 8/27/12 RP 77, 79. Mr. Macomb was not able to complete an information technology course he signed up for because he was unable to focus. 8/27/12 RP 79.

Karen Neufeld was the managing owner of the Whispering Firs Motel. 8/28/12 RP 5-6. Donald and Michelle Macomb were the managers who lived at the motel. 8/28/12 RP 6.

Neufeld was at the motel on Friday, January 14, 2011. 8/28/12 RP 7. Neufeld extended the stay of Ryan Peeler, the guest in room 102, by one day for \$60. 8/28/12 RP 7-9. Neufeld became aware of a request for a refund, so she went to the room to inspect it. 8/28/12 RP 11. The Macombs went with her because they thought there had been smoking in the room. 8/28/12 RP 11. Although there was a lot of perfume smell in the room, there was not enough evidence of smoking to keep the deposit. 8/28/12 RP 12. Neufeld was in the room at that point when Peeler started talking to Mr. Macomb. 8/28/12 RP 13. Neufeld testified:

Michelle was standing by the bathroom, and I was at the end of the bed, and Don was at the other end of the bed, and the defendant was in the doorway. And he said -- I thought it was all over, you know, that he was going to be going. And he said, you almost got hit. And then he said, you said it was \$55, and Don said something like no, I said it was

65, and Don turned away to -- toward the window, and the defendant came across the room and floored him, hit him.

8/28/12 RP 13. Neufeld described further that Peeler quickly lunged at Mr. Macomb hitting him causing Mr. Macomb to fall to the ground between the table and the bed. 8/28/12 RP 14. Neufeld said she was looking right at them when it happened and that Mr. Macomb had turned away and had not done anything to merit being hit. 8/28/12 RP 14-5, 26. Peeler than just turned around and walked off. 8/28/12 RP 15.

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